**RECEIVED**

**Aug 19 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jessica A. Salvini

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-002063

---

Jon Kane,

Appellant,

v.

Darien Applegate; Darien E. Applegate Trust;  
Darien E. Applegate, Successor in Partnership;  
Big Blue Allure, LLC; Allure Outdoor, LLC;  
Allure Advertising, LLC; Lamar OCI South Corp.;  
Lamar Advertising,

Defendants

of which Darien Applegate, individually,  
and as Trustee of the Darien E. Applegate Trust,  
and as Successor in Partnership; Big Blue Allure, LLC;  
and Allure Outdoor, LLC are the Respondents.

---

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING APPELLANT’S CLAIMS AS TIME-BARRED UNDER THE THREE-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WHEN THE CLAIMS AROSE FROM DEFENDANT DARIEN APPELEGATE’S CONDUCT IN 2022, NOT JOE APPELEGATE’S DEATH IN 2019?
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FAILING TO RECOGNIZE THAT THE SUBJECT CLAIMS WERE BROUGHT AGAINST DARIEN APPELEGATE INDIVIDUALLY, AS WELL AS OTHER DEFENDANTS, NOT AGAINST THE ESTATE OF JOE APPELEGATE? (THIS IS NOT A CREDITOR CLAIM.)
- III. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT PROCEDURALLY ERR BY CONSIDERING A STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DEFENSE IN A PRE-ANSWER MOTION TO DISMISS, CONTRADICTING ESTABLISHED SOUTH CAROLINA PRECEDENT IN *GLENN V. SCH. DIST. NO. FIVE OF ANDERSON CTY.*?
- IV. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ARBITRARILY DISMISSING THE APPLICATION OF S.C. CODE § 33-41-560 REGARDING PARTNERSHIP CONTINUATION WITHOUT PROVIDING ANY ANALYSIS OR REASONING?
- V. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FAILING TO DIFFERENTIATE BETWEEN LEGAL AND EQUITABLE CLAIMS WHEN APPLYING STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS, PARTICULARLY FOR CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST, ACCOUNTING, AND OTHER EQUITABLE REMEDIES?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action arising from Darien Applegate's unauthorized sale of partnership assets following the death of her husband, Joe Applegate. Jon Kane and Joe Applegate formed a partnership in 2015 to establish a billboard venture in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina, maintaining an amicable and productive business relationship until Joe Applegate's death in 2019. Following Joe's death, Darien Applegate initially continued the partnership relationship with Kane, but ultimately sold the partnership's billboard to Lamar OCI South Corp. in 2022 without Kane's knowledge or consent and without distributing any proceeds to Kane.

### Procedural History

This action commenced on June 22, 2023, when Appellant Jon Kane filed a Complaint against Respondents Darien Applegate (individually and as Successor in Partnership), Darien E. Applegate Trust, Big Blue Allure, LLC, Allure Outdoor, LLC, Allure Advertising, LLC, Lamar OCI South Corp., and Lamar Advertising. (R. pp. 13-201). The Complaint asserted that Kane and Joe Applegate (Darien Applegate's late husband) formed a partnership in spring 2015 for the construction and operation of a digital billboard along Highway 41 in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina. According to the Complaint, Kane contributed his expertise and secured the billboard location, while Joe Applegate provided funding for construction through his company, Allure Advertising, LLC, which formally entered the lease for the billboard site. The parties agreed to split profits equally once Joe Applegate was reimbursed for construction costs.

Construction of the billboard was completed in late 2016/early 2017, and in April or May 2019, Joe Applegate informed Kane that construction expenses had been fully reimbursed, triggering their 50/50 profit-sharing arrangement. (¶¶ 13-19 at R. pp. 14-15; ¶¶ 35-37, at R. pp. 17; ¶ 51 at R. p. 20). The Complaint further alleged that the partnership formed an LLC called

“Big Blue Allure, LLC,” and both Kane and Joe Applegate signed the Articles of Organization as “Partners.” (¶¶ 30-33, R. pp. 17-18; Exh. F, R. pp. 77-80).

The Complaint included extensive documentary evidence supporting Kane’s claims, including emails where Joe Applegate referred to Kane as his “partner” (R. pp. 74-76), a June 2017 valuation showing the billboard was worth approximately \$1,340,000 (¶ 43, R. p. 18; Exh. K, R. pp. 112-125), insurance policies in the name of Big Blue Allure, LLC (¶¶ 33-34, R. p.17; Exh. G, R. pp. 81-101), and numerous communications demonstrating the partnership relationship.

Following Joe Applegate’s death on June 29, 2019, Kane alleged that Darien Applegate continued the partnership relationship, involving Kane in day-to-day operations and acknowledging his ownership interest in text messages and communications. Specifically, Darien Applegate requested Kane handle partnership financial matters (Exhs. O & P, R. pp. 134-142), consulted with him about business operations, referred to the billboard as “our sign” (Exh. T, R. pp. 156-158), and asked Kane if they could “add a second face to our sign at the marina.” (¶ 65, R. p. 20).

However, on December 30, 2021, Darien Applegate executed a transfer and assignment of the billboard lease to Lamar OCI South Corp. (¶ 75, R. p. 22; Exh. Z, R. pp. 194-199), and on May 5, 2022, Articles of Merger were filed merging Allure Advertising, LLC into Lamar OCI South Corp. (¶ 76, R. p. 22; Exh. W, R. pp. 167-175). The Complaint alleged that on or about May 11, 2022, Darien Applegate completed the sale of the partnership assets without Kane’s knowledge or consent. (¶ 79, R. p.23)

The Complaint asserted sixteen causes of action, including declaratory judgment, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, constructive fraud, unjust enrichment, accounting,

conversion, wrongful dissolution, and various other claims arising from the partnership relationship and subsequent sale of partnership assets. (Complaint at R. pp. 23-44).

On October 18, 2023, the Applegate Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss in Lieu of Answer pursuant to Rules 12(b)(6) and 12(b)(9) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (Motion, R. pp. 202-205; Memo in Support of Motion, R. pp. 206-215). The Motion argued that all of Kane's claims were time-barred under both the South Carolina Probate Code and the general three-year statute of limitations.

On August 30, 2024, Kane filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss in Lieu of Answer. (R. pp. 216-240). The Memorandum presented several detailed arguments against dismissal: (1) that a statute of limitations defense cannot procedurally be raised in a pre-answer motion to dismiss under *Glenn v. Sch. Dist. No. Five of Anderson Cty.*; (2) that Kane's claims were not time-barred because the damages occurred when Darien Applegate sold the partnership assets in May 2022, not upon Joe Applegate's death in 2019; (3) that Kane's claims were not subject to probate limitations because they sought declaratory judgment regarding partnership rights rather than making claims against the estate; (4) that S.C. Code § 33-41-560 regarding partnership continuation applied because Darien Applegate continued to operate the partnership with Kane after Joe Applegate's death; and (5) that the extensive documentary evidence attached to the Complaint substantiated both the original partnership with Joe Applegate and the continued partnership relationship with Darien Applegate.

A hearing on the Motion to Dismiss was held before the Honorable Jessica A. Salvini on September 4, 2024. (Transcript, R. pp. 257-276). During the hearing, Kane's counsel emphasized the documentary evidence demonstrating both the original partnership with Joe Applegate and the continued partnership relationship with Darien Applegate after Joe Applegate's death. Kane's

counsel argued that the claims were not against Joe Applegate's estate but rather concerned Kane's vested property rights as a partner. (R. pp. 269-274).

At the hearing, counsel for Kane explained the critical difference between partnership dissolution and termination. Though a partner's death dissolves a partnership, South Carolina law explicitly states that dissolution does not terminate a partnership, which "continues until the winding up of partnership affairs is completed." S.C. Code § 33-41-920. The damages in this case occurred in May 2022, when the partnership assets were sold without Kane's knowledge or consent - well within the statute of limitations period. (R. p. 273:3-8).

Multiple text messages and communications substantiated the continuation of the partnership relationship with Darien Applegate after Joe Applegate's death. These communications included Darien Applegate referring to "our sign" and requesting Kane's ongoing involvement in partnership operations. (¶ 65, R. p. 20; Exhs. O & P, R. pp. 134-142; Exh. T, R. pp. 156-158).

On the probate code issue, Kane's counsel emphasized that these were not claims against the estate, but rather claims for declaratory judgment regarding the partnership. (R. p. 27, lines 2-9). Kane's ownership interest in the partnership property vested prior to Joe Applegate's death and remained valid regardless of probate proceedings. Kane was not a creditor and had no need to assert claims at the time of Joe Applegate's death.

Following the hearing, on October 1, 2024, the Circuit Court granted the Applegate Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, holding that all of Kane's claims were time-barred by the statute of limitations. (Order, R. pp. 1-5). The Court found that "pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 33-41-930(4), dissolution of a partnership is caused by the death of any partner. Here, all of Plaintiff's claims are based on and arise out of his allegations of a partnership between himself and Joe

Applegate. As Joe Applegate died on June 29, 2019, the partnership dissolved as of that date. Accordingly, all of Plaintiff's claims began to accrue on June 29, 2019." (Order at R. p. 3).

The Court further found that "each of these claims is governed by a three-year statute of limitations" and that because the Complaint was filed more than three years after Joe Applegate's death, all claims were time-barred. (R. pp. 3-4). The Court summarily rejected Kane's argument regarding the application of S.C. Code § 33-41-560 concerning continuation of the partnership, providing no analysis or reasoning for this conclusion. (R. p. 4).

Kane filed a Motion to Reconsider on October 10, 2024, arguing that the Court had misapplied the law regarding partnership dissolution versus termination, failed to consider the continuing partnership with Darien Applegate, and improperly applied the statute of limitations to claims that did not accrue until May 2022. (R. pp. 241-249).

In his Motion for Reconsideration, Kane presented several key arguments challenging the Circuit Court's dismissal order, including that dissolution of a partnership does not terminate a partnership under South Carolina law. He specifically cited Section 33-41-920 of the South Carolina Uniform Partnership Act, which clearly states: "On dissolution the partnership is not terminated, but continues until the winding up of partnership affairs is completed." (Motion to Reconsider at R. p. 242).

The Circuit Court denied the Motion to Reconsider in a brief order that did not address any of Kane's specific arguments. (R. p. 8). Kane timely filed a Notice of Appeal on December 3, 2024.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### Formation of the Kane-Applegate Partnership

Jon Kane and Joe Applegate met around 1998 during their employment at Adams Outdoor, an advertising company focused on billboards. (¶ 11, R. p. 14). Around 2002, Kane hired Joe Applegate as his sales manager in the Charleston region. (¶ 12, R. p. 14). In Spring 2015, Kane contacted Joe Applegate to gauge his interest in collaborating on an advertising billboard venture. (¶ 13, R. p. 14). Joe Applegate confirmed his interest in a partnership arrangement, explaining that if Kane could find a suitable location, Kane's contribution would be site procurement while Joe Applegate would fund construction. (¶ 13, R. p. 14). They agreed that all net proceeds would be split evenly once Joe Applegate was reimbursed for the construction outlay. (¶ 13, R. p. 14).

Kane identified a potential billboard location in North Mount Pleasant along Highway 41 on property owned by Joseph Sharp, with whom Kane had a ten-year relationship. (¶¶ 15-16, R. p. 15). Sharp agreed to allow the billboard on his property only if Kane and Joe Applegate would be partners in the deal. (¶ 18, R. p. 15). Based on this agreement with Sharp and between themselves, Kane and Joe Applegate became 50/50 partners in the billboard venture. (¶ 19, R. p. 15).

In October 2015, Kane and Joe Applegate, through their partnership, finalized a lease agreement with Sharp for the construction of the billboard. (¶ 20, R. p. 16; Exh. Y, R. pp. 184-193). Throughout late 2015 and early 2016, they conducted due diligence for the project, investigating costs and logistics. (¶ 21, R. p. 16).

### Documentary Evidence of Partnership

Documentary evidence abundantly supports the existence of the partnership. On August 2, 2016, in an email exchange with a representative of BB&T bank regarding a loan for billboard construction, Joe Applegate specifically referred to Kane as “my partner on this site” and copied Kane on the correspondence. (¶¶ 28-29, R. p. 17; Exh. E, R. pp. 74-76). The email states: “I copied my partner on this site (Jon Kane) and he will forward his information to you directly after you and I can have a conversation.” (Exh. E, R. pp. 74-76).

On August 17, 2016, Kane and Joe Applegate executed Articles of Organization for “Big Blue Allure, LLC.” (¶ 30, R. p. 17; Exh. F, R. pp. 77-80). Both parties signed the documents, and both were listed as “Partner” in their respective titles. (¶¶ 31-32, p. 17; Exh. F, R. pp. 77-80). The name “Big Blue Allure, LLC” combined elements from Kane’s “Big Blue Media LLC” and Joe Applegate’s “Allure LLC.” (¶ 31, R. p. 17).

On October 12, 2016, the partnership obtained two insurance policies from Scottsdale Insurance Co. and Century Insurance Group for the billboard property, issued under the name “Big Blue Allure, LLC” with the address for location of risk specified as 2386 Highway 41, Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29466. (¶¶ 33-34, R. p. 17; Exh. G, R. pp. 81-101).

Construction of the billboard began in late 2016 and continued into early 2017. (¶ 35, R. p. 12). On November 17, 2016, Joe Applegate sent Kane an email with the subject “Touchdown” and attached a picture of himself and the newly completed billboard. (¶ 37, R. p. 17; Exh. H, R. pp. 102-104).

On April 28, 2017, in an exchange with investment bank Johnson, Fretty & Company regarding a valuation of the billboard, Joe Applegate wrote: “I would like my partner to be able to join [the meeting],” referring to Kane. (¶ 38, R. p. 18; Exh. I, R. pp. 105-109).

On June 15, 2017, the billboard had an estimated value of \$1,340,000 according to a valuation by Johnson, Fretty & Company. (¶ 43, R. p. 18; Exh. K, R. pp. 112-124).

In August 2018, Joe Applegate drafted information on Kane's professional background to be added to Allure Outdoors's website. (¶ 47, R. p. 18; Exh. N, R. pp. 129-133). The addition of Kane's profile to the company website further demonstrates his recognized role in the business.

In late 2018 or early 2019, Joe Applegate informed Kane that he was experiencing health issues and assured Kane that his spouse, Darien Applegate, had full knowledge of their partnership agreements and business operations. (¶ 50, R. p. 19).

#### Reimbursement of Construction Costs and Joe Applegate's Death

In April or May of 2019, Joe Applegate informed Kane that the out-of-pocket expenses associated with the construction of the billboard had been paid off, triggering the 50/50 profit-sharing arrangement. (¶ 51, R. p. 19). Joe Applegate passed away on June 29, 2019. (¶ 52, R. p. 19).

#### Continued Partnership with Darien Applegate

During the probate period, which lasted approximately one year following Joe Applegate's death, Darien Applegate assured Kane of her understanding of the partnership agreement and the billboard venture. (¶¶ 53-54, R. p. 19). In October 2019, Darien Applegate again discussed the agreement with Kane, acknowledging her awareness of the business deal, but expressing a need to complete probate before she would be ready to make decisions about the business's future. (¶ 55, R. p. 19).

The documentary evidence shows that Darien Applegate continued to involve Kane in partnership business operations immediately after Joe Applegate's death and throughout the probate period:

1. On November 11, 2019, Darien Applegate texted Kane regarding delivery of a check to Joe Sharp (the property owner for the billboard site), indicating she would “have to transfer money from my account” as the “Big Blue” account lacked sufficient funds for payment. (¶ 57, R. p. 20; Exh. O, R. pp. 134-138). This text explicitly showed Darien Applegate’s acknowledgment of the “Big Blue” business account associated with the partnership and her direct involvement in managing partnership financial matters.
2. On November 14, 2019, in the same text exchange, Darien Applegate asked Kane, “Where do I send the invoice?” regarding a payment to Sharp, demonstrating her reliance on Kane for operational knowledge about the partnership. Kane provided the business address and continued to participate in partnership operations at Darien’s direct request. (Exh. O, R. p. 135).
3. On November 24, 2019, further text exchanges show Darien Applegate discussing payment arrangements for the billboard business, with Kane providing guidance on payment timing and procedures that had been established during the partnership with Joe Applegate. (Exh. X, R. pp. 176-181).
4. On December 17, 2019, Darien Applegate sent a text message in a group that included Kevin Madrykowski (the sales manager for the partnership) and Kane, requesting that Kane send a commission check to sales representative Mary Adams. (¶ 58, R. p. 20; Exh. P, R. pp. 139-142). Kane considered this a normal request, as he regularly paid commissions to Mary Adams via check from a bank account used for the partnership venture. (¶ 59, R. p. 20). This communication, in which Darien Applegate directed Kane to handle financial matters for the business after Joe Applegate’s death, supports Kane’s contention that Darien Applegate continued to treat him as a partner with financial

authority in the ongoing operations. Mary Adams, like others, acknowledged recognized that Jon Kane and Joe Applegate were partners. (¶ 59, R. p. 20; Exh. Q, R. pp. 143-145).

5. In January 2020, while Darien Applegate removed Kane's name from the partnership's bank accounts at BB&T (without his knowledge or consent), she continued to treat him as a partner, seeking information and guidance regarding the valuation of the billboard. (¶¶ 62-63, R. p. 20; Exh. S, R. p. 149-155). In a text message, she stated the appraisal is done, "Basically they are saying it's worth what we put into building it," to which Kane responded with his assessment of the valuation. (Exh. S, R. pp. 149-155).
6. On January 16, 2020, Darien Applegate texted Kane, explicitly referring to the billboard as "our sign" when asking: "Can we add a second face to our sign at the marina? [Hwy. 41 location]" (¶ 65, R. p. 20; Exh. T, R. pp. 156-158). She added that she needed information for an appraisal in accordance with probate paperwork. (¶ 65, R. p. 20). The use of "our sign" and "we" clearly indicated Darien's recognition of Kane's ownership interest in the partnership property.
7. In the same exchange, Darien Applegate asked Kane whether a lease for another of Joe Applegate's billboard locations was filed with the State. (¶ 66, R. p. 21). Kane responded, "We can add second face, I'm working through landowner next door for trees. I believe everything was filed with the state. Should be in the lease folder." (¶ 67, R. p. 21; Exh. T, R. pp. 156-158). Again, the use of "we" by both parties demonstrates the ongoing partnership relationship.

### Darien Applegate's Subsequent Actions and Sale of Partnership Assets

In mid to late Summer of 2020, after the conclusion of probate for Joe Applegate's estate, Darien Applegate's behavior toward Kane suddenly changed. She informed Kane that she had nothing in writing indicating the existence of the partnership or Kane's rights in the business. (Complaint, ¶ 70, R. p. 21). This stark reversal contradicted her previous acknowledgments of the partnership through numerous text messages and business interactions. She claimed she was entitled to assume full operational control of the partnership and its business as the Administrator of Joe Applegate's estate. (¶ 71, R. p. 21).

This reversal was particularly striking given her consistent pattern of treating Kane as a partner in the months following Joe Applegate's death. From November 2019 through January 2020, Darien Applegate had repeatedly engaged Kane in partnership business operations, using terminology such as "our sign" and "we" when discussing the billboard, and relying on him to handle financial matters for the partnership.

In a subsequent conversation, Curtis Applegate (Joe and Darien Applegate's son) assured Kane that he was familiar with the partnership, had informed Darien Applegate of the partnership, and expressed confusion over Darien Applegate's refusal to honor the partnership obligations. (¶ 72, R. pp. 21-22). Curtis Applegate referenced an email he had sent to both Kane and Joe Applegate with paperwork related to the partnership attached. (¶ 72, R. pp. 21-22; Exh. AA, R. pp. 200-201). This indicates that Darien Applegate was fully aware of the partnership relationship but chose to deny it after probate concluded.

On November 19, 2021, without consulting Kane, Darien Applegate filed a Change of Registered Agent request with the S.C. Secretary of State for "Allure Outdoors, LLC," changing the agent from "Russell J. Applegate" to her own name. (¶ 73, R. p. 22; Exh. U, R. pp. 159-162).

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