THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Aug 13 2025

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jessica A. Salvini, circuit court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-002063

Jon Kane,

Appellant,

v.

Darien Applegate; Darien E. Applegate
Trust; Darien E. Applegate, Successor in
Partnership; Big Blue Allure, LLC;
Allure Outdoor, LLC; Allure
Advertising, LLC; Lamar OCI South
Corp.;
Lamar Advertising,

Defendants

of which Darien Applegate, individually,
and as Trustee of the Darien E. Applegate Trust,
and as Successor in Partnership; Big Blue
Allure, LLC; and Allure Outdoor, LLC are the
Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

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

Each of Appellant's claims rises and falls on the existence of an alleged partnership with Joe prior to Joe's death:

- Declaratory judgment: The statute of limitations on Appellant’s claim for a declaration of the existence of a partnership also plainly began to run no later than when the alleged partnership was dissolved by Joe Applegate’s death on June 29, 2019.

- Breach of contract/breach of contract with fraudulent intent: The statute of limitations for any breach of an alleged partnership agreement likewise began to run no later than the dissolution of the partnership (and thus the termination of the partnership agreement). Again, Appellant does not allege that he and Mrs. Applegate entered into any separate or new partnership agreement following her husband’s death, and instead explicitly bases his breach of contract claim on Mrs. Applegate breaching “the partnership agreement” that existed between him and Joe – a contract to which Mrs. Applegate was not even a party. (R. p. 24, ¶¶ 85, 90). The only person who could have breached a partnership agreement with Appellant was Joe, such that any breach of contract claim clearly arose no later than June 29, 2019.

Moreover, the allegations in the Complaint reveal that Joe actually breached the purported terms of the alleged partnership agreement prior to his death. In the years prior to Joe’s death, Appellant was on notice that the lease for the billboard was not in the name of any partnership, but in Allure Advertising, and that Allure Advertising continued to represent its ownership over the billboard in a 2017 third-party valuation. (R. pp. 112, 182). Appellant further alleges that he was to receive 50% of the profits from the billboard once Joe had been reimbursed for all of his expenses; Joe allegedly informed Appellant that the costs had been repaid in April or May of 2019. (R. pp. 15, 19). Appellant acknowledges that Joe’s confirmation that construction costs had been fully reimbursed, triggered “their 50/50 profit-sharing arrangement.” Appellant’s Br. p. 18. But Appellant ignores the fact that he does not allege that he ever received any such share of the profits or distribution from the partnership prior to Joe’s death, in breach of the purported partnership agreement. Despite this, Appellant did not commence this action until more than three years after

Joe's death, three years after the termination of any partnership agreement, and more than three years after Joe allegedly had already breached that purported partnership agreement.

- Breach of fiduciary duty/constructive trust: In this case, fiduciary duties would only arise between Appellant and a partner. Kuznik v. Bees Ferry Assocs., 342 S.C. 579, 598, 538 S.E.2d 15, 25 (Ct. App. 2000) (describing fiduciary duty between partners). As discussed above, however, Appellant does not allege that *Mrs. Applegate* was his partner or that he entered into any partnership agreement directly with her.¹ The only partner that Appellant identifies is Joe; under the facts alleged by Appellant, Joe is the only person who could have owed him fiduciary duties. Therefore, the statute of limitations for any alleged breach of those duties necessarily began to run prior to the death of Appellant's purported partner, Joe.

- Unjust enrichment/quantum meruit/conversion: Appellant's entitlement to any profit or gain or interest in an alleged partnership or partnership property – whether “vested” or otherwise – was likewise founded upon the existence of the *partnership*. The statute of limitations for any claim arising from the taking of that profit/interest thus began to run upon the dissolution of the partnership itself. This is reinforced by Appellant's own argument that under S.C. Code § 33-41-720(e), Mrs. Applegate did not acquire any right to specific partnership property by virtue of being Joe's widow, but the billboard and partnership profits continued to be the property of the alleged partnership. Because the partnership automatically dissolved upon Joe's death, any claim Appellant had in the billboard arose at that time. Appellant acknowledges that he did not (and did not allege) that he filed any claim as a creditor against the estate. Appellant's Br. p. 17. Appellant does *not*

¹ Appellant tacitly acknowledges this, alleging that pursuant to S.C. Code § 33-41-540, Mrs. Applegate owed him “duties in a fiduciary capacity given Defendant's knowledge of Plaintiff's existing partnership agreement and Plaintiff's belief that he was at all times the sole operating officer of ‘Big Blue Allure, LLC’ and its assets.” (R. p. 27, ¶ 111). But S.C. Code § 33-41-540 applies only to *partners* – not to people who merely knew about a partnership to which they were not a party, or because Appellant held certain beliefs about being an officer in a limited liability company.

allege that he took any steps to wind up the partnership's affairs, or indeed made any attempt whatsoever to exercise any "ownership interest" over the partnership property

- Accounting: The statute of limitations for any claim for an accounting of the partnership assets likewise clearly began to run no later (and arguably far earlier) than the dissolution of the alleged partnership at Joe's death. Specifically, S.C. Code Ann. §33-41-550(1) provides that "[a]ny partner shall have the right to a formal account as to partnership affairs . . . [i]f he is wrongfully excluded from the partnership business or possession of its property by his copartners." As noted above, Appellant was on notice years prior to Joe's death that the billboard was owned by Allure Advertising and was not in the name of the partnership or any entity in which Appellant believed he had an interest. (R. pp. 112, 182). Any action for an accounting arose well over three years before Appellant commenced this action.

- Fraud/constructive fraud/unfair trade practices: The basis for Appellant's fraud claim is that Mrs. Applegate deceived Appellant into believing she would continue "to honor the partnership agreement" between Appellant and Joe "in violation of her fiduciary and contractual duties" "as a partner via succession." (R. p. 31, ¶¶ 135, 139). Because any such alleged partnership was dissolved as a matter of law upon Joe's death, however, any fraud – as well as any fiduciary or contractual obligations in connection with that partnership – necessarily had to occur prior its dissolution. This is so because the statute of limitations for a cause of action for fraud in South Carolina is governed by the "discovery rule." Burgess v. Am. Cancer Soc., S.C. Div., Inc., 300 S.C. 182, 185, 386 S.E.2d 798, 799 (Ct. App. 1989). Accordingly, because Appellant knew that the partnership dissolved as a matter of law upon Joe's death and Mrs. Applegate had no ability to "continue" it, or "such facts and circumstances could have been known" to him "through the exercise of ordinary care and reasonable diligence," the statute of limitations bars his claims based in fraud. Rush v. Strible, 2024 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 196, at *2-3 (Ct. App. May 29, 2024). In addition,

as set forth below, any duty upon which a claim for constructive fraud could have been based necessarily ended upon Joe's death and the dissolution of the partnership.

- Wrongful dissolution: Because the alleged partnership automatically dissolved upon Joe Applegate's death, the statute of limitations for any claim related to its dissolution began to run at that time. Put simply, there was no partnership for Mrs. Applegate to dissolve after her husband died.

- Interference with contractual relationship/negligent or tortious interference with contractual relationship: Again, the only contractual relationship purportedly being interfered with by Mrs. Applegate was the alleged partnership between Appellant and Joe; as that partnership dissolved upon Joe's death, any claims based on the existence of that partnership agreement necessarily began to run at that time.

When Joe died in 2019, any alleged partnership between Appellant and Joe automatically dissolved as a matter of law, and the statute of limitations began to run on all of Appellant's claims. Despite this, Appellant did not commence this action until June 22, 2023, more than three years later. Accordingly, all of his claims are time-barred.

B. The Circuit Court Properly Applied the Statute of Limitations to Appellant's Claims for an Accounting, Constructive Fraud, Constructive Trust, and Unjust Enrichment.

1. Appellant Failed to Preserve This Argument on Appeal.

Appellant further contends that the circuit court committed reversible error by applying the statute of limitations to claims he contends are equitable in nature. However, Appellant's argument is procedurally improper and cannot be heard on appeal, because he did not raise this argument before the circuit court at any stage, including in his briefing on his motion for reconsideration. "Appellant cannot present this argument for the first time on appeal." Dunes W. Golf Club, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 401 S.C. 280, 302 n.11, 737 S.E.2d 601, 612 n.11 (2013); accord Atlantic Coast

Builders & Contractors, LLC, v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 330, 730 S.E.2d 282, 287 (2012) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”). “At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge,” otherwise, “if not raised to the trial court, the issues are deemed waived on appeal.” Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). By failing to raise any argument to the circuit court concerning the applicability of the statute of limitations to claims he contends are equitable in nature, Appellant waived that issue and failed to preserve it for appeal.

2. Appellant’s Claims Are Nonetheless Barred by the Statute of Limitations.

Even had Appellant preserved this issue, the statute of limitations properly applies to bar the claims he describes as “equitable.” As Appellant himself noted, “[a] suit for declaratory judgment may be legal or equitable, and is characterized as such by the nature of the underlying issue outlined in the complaint.” Lowcountry Open land Tr. v. State, 347 S.C. 96, 101, 552 S.E.2d 778, 781 (Ct. App. 2001). In his first cause of action, Appellant seeks a declaration that a partnership existed between himself and Joe, and that the partnership owned certain property – in other words, Appellant seeks a declaration of the legal, *not equitable*, rights between the parties. This claim is legal in nature and therefore barred by the statute of limitations.

Appellant also seeks an accounting, but acknowledges this claim “arise[s] from the fiduciary relationship inherent in a partnership.” Appellant’s Br., p. 21. Indeed, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-41-550(1) provides a partner with the statutory “right to a formal account as to partnership affairs” if they are “wrongfully excluded” from the business or property of the partnership. But Appellant cannot base an accounting claim on the existence of a partnership which the statute of limitations bars him from suing to establish ever existed. “As a matter of law,” – *not equity* – “Plaintiff cannot prevail in an attempt to force an accounting for a partnership that doesn’t exist.” Curtis v. Café

Enters., 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 160990, at *36 (W.D.N.C. Nov. 21, 2016) (applying S.C. Code Ann. § 33-41-550). Because any claim to enforce partnership rights or a partnership agreement is barred by the three-year statute of limitations, Appellant’s claim for an accounting is likewise barred.

The three-year statute of limitations similarly applies to Appellant’s claim for constructive fraud. See, e.g., Clemons v. Home Telecom Co., 2022 S.C. C.P. LEXIS 1090, *4 (Berkeley Co. Circuit Ct. Aug. 8, 2022) (“Under the South Carolina Code, actions for . . . constructive fraud . . . are subject to a three-year statute of limitations.”). As the South Carolina Supreme Court has held, “[w]hen the relationship” between the parties which creates a duty to disclose “ends, the duty to disclose, which is the basis of fraudulent concealment claim, ceases to exist.” Strong v. Univ. of S.C. Sch. of Med., 316 S.C. 189, 191-92, 447 S.E.2d 850, 852 (1994) (citing O’Neal v. Throop, 596 N.E.2d 984 (Ind. Ct. App. 1992) (when physician-patient relationship terminates, the constructive fraud terminates, and the statute of limitations begins to run)). In Strong, the Supreme Court affirmed a grant of summary judgment to defendants on the grounds that the plaintiff’s claim for constructive fraud began to accrue when the patient-physician relationship ended, and thus was barred by the statute of limitations when plaintiff delayed in filing suit. Id. Albeit in a different context, the logic of Strong holds true in this case: upon the termination of the partnership that would have given rise to any fiduciary duty, when Joe died, the fiduciary duty underlying Appellant’s claim for constructive fraud likewise terminated. Accordingly, Appellant’s constructive fraud claim began to accrue in June 2019 and is now time-barred.

Appellant’s claim for a constructive trust, arising from that same alleged fiduciary duty, is similarly time-barred. Indeed, the Supreme Court of South Carolina long ago declared: “The trust imposed . . . being in its nature an implied or constructive trust, constitutes no exception to the operation of the statute of limitations.” Beard v. Stanton, 15 S.C. 164, 168 (1881).

Finally, Appellant’s claim for unjust enrichment is also time-barred, as just this year this

Court held that “the applicable statute of limitations for the claims of unjust enrichment and conversion in civil actions is three years.” Mares v. Est. of Marx, 2025 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 33, at *4 (Ct. App. Jan. 29, 2025).

Because each of Appellant’s claims began to accrue no later than Joe’s death on June 29, 2019, the circuit court properly determined they were time-barred by the applicable three-year statute of limitations.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO APPLY S.C. Code § 33-41-560.

Lastly, Appellant incorrectly argues that the circuit court abused its discretion in refusing to apply S.C. Code § 33-41-560. Pursuant to S.C. Code § 33-41-560(2), “[a] continuation of the business by the partners or such of them as habitually acted therein during the term, without any settlement or liquidation of the partnership affairs, is prima facie evidence of a continuation of the partnership.” S.C. Code § 33-41-560(2). Appellant contends that under this provision, Mrs. Applegate continued the partnership by continuing the partnership business without liquidating it. Appellant’s Br., p. 19. However, this section explicitly applies only to partnerships “for a fixed term or particular undertaking” which continue to do business *after* that fixed term expires or the particular undertaking is accomplished. S.C. Code § 33-41-560(1).

Here, there is no allegation in the Complaint that the alleged partnership between Appellant and Joe was for a fixed term or particular undertaking, much less that the term expired or the undertaking was completed. Furthermore, even if the alleged partnership were for a fixed term, it is physically and legally impossible for “the partners” (plural) who “habitually acted” in connection with the partnership business to continue that business when one partner dies. In short, the circuit court correctly concluded that S.C. Code § 33-41-560(2) does not apply to this action. Appellant cannot rely on this section to avoid the statute of limitations’ bar to his claims.

CONCLUSION

Because the circuit court properly dismissed Appellant's claims as time-barred by the applicable statute of limitations, this Court should affirm the circuit court's Order dismissing Appellant's Complaint and the subsequent Order denying Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration.